#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



MANUEL A. COLINA,

Appellant,

)

)

)

)

)

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

JAN 13 1989

CLERK, SURREME COURT By\_ Deputy Clerk

Case No. 71,124

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEFFREY W. MONROE, ESQUIRE KEVIN R. MONAHAN, ESQUIRE 613 St. Johns Avenue Suite 204 Palatka, Florida 32077 (904)325-8673

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged via a two-count Indictment with the First Degree Murder of Cecilia Diaz and Angela Diaz (R-9).<sup>1/</sup> The Defendant was arraigned on said Indictment on February 16, 1987, and entered a plea of not guilty through his Court-appointed counsel, William Butler (R-15). The cause was set for Pre-Trial Conference on April 2, 1987, and Trial on April 27, 1987 (R-17). On February 18, 1987, the Defendant filed a Demand for Discovery and Motion for Statement of Particulars (R-19). The State filed its initial answer to discovery on February 27, 1987 (R-20).

On March 5, 1987, the Defendant filed a Motion for

1/ (R) refers to the record on appeal of the instant case.

Appointment of Expert pursuant to Rule 3.216(a), FRCrP (R-23). Said Motion was granted on March 10, 1987 (R-24).

The Defendant, at the Pre-Trial Conference of April 2, 1987, filed a Motion for Continuance which was granted (R-28-30).

The Defendant again appeared for Pre-Trial Conference on May 7, 1987, with both parties announcing ready for Trial. The Court <u>ore tenus</u> ordered all disclosures to be made by May 27, 1987 (R-49).

On May 15, 1987, the Office of the Public Defender filed a Certificate of Conflict <u>nunc pro tunc</u> to February 16, 1987, and the Court granted the Public Defender's motion to withdraw and appointed William E. Butler to represent the Defendant (R-90-92).

On June 10, 1987, the State filed a Notice to rely upon similar fact evidence (R-143).

The cause proceeded to trial on Jun 22, 1987 (R-493). Prior to commencement of voir dire examination the State advised the Court that the Court-appointed interpreter, Cecilia Gregory, was a potential witness at the trial (R-496-501). The Court, therefore, inquired of Ms. Gregory (R-501-511).

After the jury was selected the Defendant, out of the presence of the jury, made several ore tenus motions. First, the

Defendant moved in limine to exclude photographs marked as State' Exhibit F for identification (R-938-940). The Court found this motion to be premature (R-940). The Defendant next moved in limine to exclude similar fact evidence (R-940). The Court found this motion to be premature (R-942). The Defendant moved in limine for the State to be prohibited in referring to the identity of the bodies until such time as identity was established (R-942-943). Said motion was denied by the Court (R-943).

The Defendant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal made at the close of all the evidence was denied by the Court (R-1896-1898).

The jury found the Defendant guilty of both Counts of Murder in the First Degree (R-322). Subsequent to the taking of evidence during the penalty phase of the trial the jury unanimously recommended that the Defendant receive the death penalty as to both Counts of the Indictment (R-323-324).

The Defendant timely filed his Motion for New Trial on July 9, 1987 (R-325-326).

The Defendant was sentenced to death on August 18, 1987 (R-325-326).

Notice of Appeal was filed on August 26, 1987 (R-409).

#### STATEMENT OF OF THE FACTS

Manuel Colina is a Cuban immigrant who came to this country in May 1980. His occupational and residential history since that time is relatively uncertain. He came to reside in the Putnam County area sometime in the latter part of 1986 (R1201).

During the last week in December 1986, a neighbor of Angel and Cecilia Diaz noticed the Diaz home empty and the car gone (R968-969). On January 5, 1987, Henry Piaz, a relative, reported that Mr. and Mrs. Diaz were missing to the Putnam County Sheriff's Office (R974). Deputy Sheriff Daniel Keel responded to the call and went to the Diaz home near West River Road in a rural area of Putnam County. Upon arrival he entered the Diaz home and found it in a disturbed condition. He then looked around the outside area where he discovered two bodies in a small clearing near the trailer (R977-993).

The crime scene was examined and photographed by members of the Sheriff's Office and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (R431-472). The bodies evidenced substantial decay and were missing the heads and a substantial part of certain limbs as a result of insect and animal activity (R1548). On January 28, 1987, a search of the surrounding area resulted in the discovery of a human skull (R1194).

A post-mortem examination of Mrs. Diaz disclosed a bruise to the left upper part of the chest inflicted at or just before the time of death (R1539). There were no skeletal injuries

(R1540). Her feet had been tied after her death (R1540). A lack of lividity indicated a rapid loss of blood from above the neck R1541-1542). There were no injuries to the organs within the chest or abdomen (R1542). The skull fragments found at or near the scene revealed multiple fractures to the head and facial area (R1546-1547).

A post-mortem examination of Mr. Diaz disclosed that his ankles had been tied after death (R1550). There were no force type injuries to the body R1550). A lack of lividity again indicated that there was massive hemorrhage at the time of death from an area above the chest (R1550-1551). The skull portion discovered near the scene was examined and it revealed massive blunt injuries causing fractures to the skull and facial areas (R1552). Death to both victims was caused by trauma to the head.

On January 13, 1987, Felix Castro and Manuel Colina were arrested in Houston, Texas for the murders of Angel and Cecilia Diaz (R1625). Upon his arrest, Manuel Colina denied his identity and claimed to be Servando Garcia from Mexico (R1626-1637). He later acknowledged his identity but denied knowledge of the murders (R1640).

At trial Felix Castro testified that he was a friend of Colina and that he had known him about three months (R1201). On December 18, 1987 he met Colina in the morning and the two smoked some "rock" or "crack" cocaine (R1199). They later went onto the street in an attempt to obtain money to buy more of

the drug. Colina indicated that some people he worked for owed him some money and he wanted to go there and then leave town (R1213-1214). The two went to the home of Albert Spells and asked for a ride to the West River Road area near the Diaz home. Spells agreed to give them a ride but first he had to do some work laying sod at a Taco Bell restaurant under construction. After that work was finished, he drove Colina and Castro to a dirt road near the Diaz home (R1218-1222).

The two men walked a short distance to the Diaz home where Colina instructed Castro to stay out of sight. Colina went to the door and contacted Mr. Diaz and asked him for a jack to change a tire on a car that was nearby. Mr. Diaz called for a jack and came outside where he observed Castro standing nearby. Colina went inside the trailer while Castro stayed outside and spoke with Mr. Diaz. A short time later Colina jumped out of the trailer and told Castro to do something. Castro then struck Mr. Diaz with a wooden club he was holding. Colina then struck him again with a metal crowbar or tire iron (R1226-1239).

The two then carried the body of Mr. Diaz to a clearing in the woods behind the trailer where Mrs. Diaz's body was already laying. Castro testified that she was already dead but later indicated that he may have heard a moan. Mr. Diaz's pants slipped off while Castro was carrying his legs. Colina told Castro to get something to tie them up with. Several lengths of clothesline were cut and the Defendant began using

it to bind the bodies. Castro testified that Colina struck several more blows to the heads of the victims as they lay there. (R1242-1248).

The two men then cleaned the blood out of the trailer and searched for valuables, taking a small amount of cash, some alcohol, jewelry and other items from Mr. Diaz's wallet. They then took the Diaz car and returned to Palatka where they bought some beer and some more "crack" (R1250-1256).

After parting that night, Castro met with his girlfriend and the two returned to the Diaz home where Castro took the TV set. It was sold and the money used to buy more crack (R1260-1262).

The following day, Castro and Colina met again. They drove to a nearby town where they committed two burglaries. Once again, the money obtained was used to buy "crack" (R1264-1267). The two then left the Putnam County area and drove to Houston, Texas in the Diaz car. They stopped at a mission in Mobile, Alabama where they also obtained some additional clothing. After they arrived in Houston, the car was sold and the two men went their separate ways. They were arrested on January 13, 1987 (R1267-1275).

Colina testified in his own behalf. He related that he had accompanied Castro to the Diaz home and hid while Castro went to the door (R1765-1773). He observed Castro attack Mr. Diaz and then fled on foot (R1775-1778). He walked and ran back to Palatka. He saw Castro later that night driving the

Diaz car. Castro ordered the Defendant not to say anything. Later, Colina returned to the Diaz house with Castro and an unnamed black male. He saw blood in the home. Castro searched the home for something more to steal and left with some beer and cigarettes (R1779-1786). The next day the two left for Houston (R1788-1791).

Two inmates from the Putnam County Jail testified that they had spoken to the Defendant while he was in custody awaiting trial and that he acknowledged killing one or both of the victims (R1683, R1694).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: During both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial, the prosecution introduced evidence with little or no probative value to any relevant issue, but which carried a strong risk of introducing ethnic prejudices and fears into the proceedings. In addition, the prosecutor's habit of labeling the Defendant as a "Marielito" and questioning his need for an interpreter also served to thoroughly taint the proceedings.

POINT 11: The prosecution introduced testimony during the guilt and penalty phases that the Defendant had previously stolen and fenced property, possessed a kilo of cocaine, had hurt other people, had stabbed a person in the county jail, had killed white people in a prison riot, had murdered other people and tied up their bodies, had tied up girls with handkerchiefs and was a habitual criminal while in Cuba. These crimes were in addition to any for which he had been convicted or which were related to the charged offenses. So frequent and prejudicial, as well as unreliable, was this evidence of collateral crimes that it became an overriding feature of the trial and rendered wholly inadequate both the findings of guilt and the recommendation and sentence of death.

POINT 111: Throughout the Defendant's testimony, the prosecution raised and the trial court sustained hearsay objections to all verbal remarks made by other persons which were offered by the

defense, without regard to whether or not they were offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted. Accordingly, the trial court excluded statements made by the state's key witness which were offered to prove he knew the victims and other statements which were offered to explain the Defendant's actions during the course of events that were the subject of the trial. The proscription placed on the Defendant against any third party statements was so thorough as to effectively deny the Defendant an opportunity to present his version of the case.

<u>POINT IV</u>: During the penalty phase of the trial, the prosecution introduced into evidence a distasteful black T-shirt and testimony aimed at showing that the Defendant felt no remorse for the commission of the crimes. This evidence was not legally relevant to any of the four aggravating circumstances presented to the jury or to any other statutory factor. It was also contrary to repeated holdings of this court that lack of remorse shall not be considered as part of the capital sentencing process.

<u>POINT V</u>: The trial court found that the capital felonies were especially heinous atrocious and cruel. The evidence offered to the jury on this question related almost entirely to the character of the victims contrasted with the malevolent character of the accused. The trial court's findings, similarly, dwelt

on this theme. No evidence was presented, no argument was offered and no findings were made that the victims suffered through any period of torment or contemplation prior to the killings nor that their deaths were unnecessarily slow or torturous. The evidence was not conclusive, but it appears that the victims died or lost consciousness quickly after a sudden and unexpected attack.

<u>POINT VI</u>: The trial court found that the murders were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. This aggravating factor is reserved for those killings which evidence heightened premeditation. It is usually applicable to execution or contract style killings or to a killing that involves an extended period of reflection. The facts found by the trial judge to support this finding were that the killings were premeditated and deliberate and were inflicted upon kind and generous victims. The court's findings reflect a complete misunderstanding of the gravamen of this factor and warrant reversal.

<u>POINT VII</u>: The trial court also found that the killings were committed to avoid a lawful arrest. Where the victims of a murder are not law enforcement officers, this factor requires very strong proof that the sole or dominant motive for the killing is to avoid arrest. There was some evidence to support the court's conclusion. But it did not rise to the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. There was also evidence to

show that the Defendant's original intent was to bind his victims and leave the area.

#### POINT I

### THE FINDINGS OF GUILT AND SENTENCES OF DEATH WERE FUNDAMENTALLY TAINTED BY EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS MADE TO THE JURY CALCULATED TO AROUSE ETHNIC PREJUDICE DURING THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES OF THE TRIAL

During the course of the trial and in the penalty phase, the state made certain comments and introduced testimony which had as its intended or unintended consequence the injection of ethnic issues into the trial.

The principle witness for the state, Felix Castro, had testified that he had not assisted the victims or reported the crimes and that he had given false information to investigators because he was afraid (R1302-1308).

On redirect examination the trial court permitted the prosecution to proceed as follows:

PROSECUTOR: You indicate that you're afraid of him.

A. Yes

Q. Manuel Colina.

A. (Nods head)

Q. Well, could that fear be because of what you saw him do on the 18th of December?

A. Not only that, you know what he told me before that too. What I had seen that day --

Q. What was the basis for your fear of Manuel Colina, now that that's become relevant?

A. Because he had told me, you know, he had hurt other people before that, you know, and he don't like nobody to --

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your honor, I object to this line of questioning. I think we are getting into an entirely different area which is going to cause some problems.

THE COURT: May be, but I think the door is open. And the objection, if it's based on the fact that it's not brought out on cross-examination, if that's what I understand the legal basis to be.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Yes sir.

THE COURT: No sir, it's overruled.

PROSECUTOR: You indicated that your were afraid of Manuel Colina, right?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. And you had basis other that the fact than just what you had seem him do?

A. Yes.

Q. Where was he from?

A. He's from Cuba.

Q. And what had he told you that made you *so* afraid of him?

A. Well, he told me that he was on -- like -he was inside a Navy base down there and they used to do lots of things down there, you know, like buy girls with handkerchiefs. When he got over here, <u>he was in a riot, a big riot with a couple</u> of people, and they killed white -- they used to like to kill white people.

Q. <u>Did you believe him?</u>

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your Honor, I object.

A. <u>Well, that day I believed him, yes, I believed him.</u>

(R1313-1315)(emphasis added).

The defense moved for a mistrial which the judge denied based on the state's argument that the defense had opened the door on cross-examination by asking eight times about the witness' fear of the Defendant (R1316). (Actually, the Defense asked about fear of the Defendant only twice after it had been raised spontaneously by the witness.) (R1307-1308)

During the state's closing argument the prosecutor continued in this vein referring to the Defendant as "the poor, misunderstood Cuban from the Mariel boat lift" (R1508), and later "the little Marielito, as he wants to call himself" (R 2023). In truth, the Defendant had testified, only, that he was from Cuba and that he came to this country on May 8, 1980 in the boatlift (R1762). Later the State hit heavy on the ethnic issue:

> MR MCLEOD: [mimicing the Defendant] I've been to Ft. Myers in 1966 or '67, must've come back from the Bay of Pigs six years late or something. Jordan Van? I don't know who Jordan Van is. Cuba? No, I'm Mexican, I'm a Texan, Mexican. Palatka phone number? Some black guy in Texas, some black guy in Texas.

This is great how every time he has a problem with identification, like the guy that supposedly went back with them to the trailer: just a black guy, some black guy.

On the 14th of January 1987 he's Manuel Colina Ardenis, now, he's a Cuban, he's a Marielito. 1980 is when he came here.

(R2013-2014).

The Defendant had use of a translator throughout the course of the trial due to a lack of fluency in the English language. The prosecution played on this aspect of the Defendant's background as well by questioning several witnesses about whether or not the Defendant could speak English (R1202, R1641, R1665). During closing argument the prosecutor argued:

> He said he reads, writes and speaks the English language. Interesting, on cross-examination and direct examination, you had to kind of stop him to translate to him most of the time.

Cross-examination of Mr. Montero: Have you ever had illegal aliens give you the wrong names? Yeah How about murderers? Yeah.

#### (R2013).

Finally, as the prosecutor neared the end of his argument:

First degree murder motive, unbridled evil, that's what does this. Evil that lies, and evil that splashes heads like so many rotten Cuban melons, which is what you had in this case.

#### (R2043).

From the outset of the trial there were very heavy and unmistakable Latin overtones to the proceedings. The Defendant was a Cuban immigrant. The co-Defendant and principle state witness was also Cuban. The victims were of Hispanic origin as well, and a Spanish interpreter was required throughout the proceedings.

The jury did not include a single member of Hispanic origin. The trial setting was a fertile ground for appeals to ethnic prejudices and fears. Under the circumstances it was incumbent upon both the court and the prosecution to affirmatively guard against any evidence or argument which might give play to such feelings, rather than look for ways to exploit them.

The State of Florida has experienced large scale emigrations from Latin America in the last few decades. While much of the

nation's experience with civil rights has dealt with the question of race, in this State, the concerns over national and ethnic origins must clearly recognize the friction that has and continues to exist between the Hispanic population and much of the rest of the State. The term "Marielito" which was used liberally by the prosecutor has come to refer, as the presiding judge noted in handing down his sentence, to "boat lift immigrants who were incarcerated [criminals] in Cuban prisons" (R2218).

"Racial prejudice has no place in our system of justice and has long been condemned by this Court." <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 520 So.2d 1, 7. This Court, in <u>Robinson</u>, noted that a presiding judge should not only sustain an objection to comments of the nature presented in this case, but should go further and reprimand the prosecuting officer to impress upon the jury the impropriety of such argument or testimony. It was further noted that such remarks may in some instances be so prejudicial that a mistrial should be granted. In the instant case, the prosecutor was permitted to elicit testimony that the Defendant liked to kill white people and overruled the Defendant's objection.

The prosecutor's later arguments, although not objected to by the defense, plainly injected a strong risk of ethnic prejudice into these proceedings and constituted fundamental error, <u>Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S.</u> 637, 643, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 1871, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974).

Such considerations are especially important in capital

sentencing proceedings, <u>Turner v. Murray</u>, 476 U.S. 1 106 S.Ct. 1683, 1688, 90 L.Ed.2d 27 (1986).

The repeated and unwarranted injection of testimony and argument calculated to appeal to ethnic prejudice and fear violated the Defendant's Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights and warrants reversal of both judgment and sentence.

#### POINT II

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