IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



MAR 3 1989

CLERK, SUNFIME COURT

Deputy Clerk

MANUEL COLINA,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 71,124

v .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY #363014 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The admission of evidence on cross-examination or re-direct after one party has opened the door to such evidence is not error. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the admission of the State's witness' explanation for why he was afraid of the defendant. The alleged improper argument of the prosecutor labeling Colina as a marielito was not objected to and is not fundamental error.

II.

The admission of evidence of other bad acts of the Appellant were only after the defense opened the door or were on rebuttal to impeach testimony of the Appellant. Moreover, evidence of bad character in the penalty phase of a death case is highly relevant and admissible to assist the jury into coming to a proper recommendation as to sentencing.

111.

The trial court did not err in sustaining the objection of the prosecutor regarding hearsay objections to verbal remarks made by other persons which were offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The trial court likewise did not err in admitting statements of Colina made to the State's witness as these were admissions of a party against interest.

IV.

The State agrees that the admission of the t-shirt worn by Colina during the penalty phase was irrelevant to any question presented during a sentencing proceeding and was improperly admitted. The admission of this evidence was harmless error under the test set forth by this Court in similar cases. Defense counsel failed to raise the specific objection that lack of remorse is not admissible to establish heinous, atrocious and cruel.

v.

The trial court did not err in concluding that the murders were heinous, atrocious and cruel. The jury heard evidence and the judge considered evidence that the victims were still alive at the time their bodies were drug to their final resting place and prior to the vicious beating with a tire iron. There was evidence which could be construed as victim impact evidence but there was no timely objection and Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

VI.

The evidence of heightened premeditation is overwhelming. The manner and mode of killing combined with statements of Colina during the killing and his decision to tie the bodies up even if they were dead evinces a cold, calculated and premeditated deliberate killing.

VII.

The trial court considered the victims familiarity with the Appellant and his own statements that he had to kill them to eliminate witnesses in concluding that there was strong proof that the sole or dominant motive for the killing was to avoid arrest. Furthermore, hiding the bodies was also done to avoid arrest and succeeded for over two weeks.

Ι

THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE WERE NOT FUNDAMENTALLY TAINTED BY AN IMPROPER APPEAL TO ETHNIC PREJUDICE OF THE JURY

Colina argues that the prosecutor introduced testimony and made certain comments for purposes of inflaming the ethnic prejudice of the jury. Colina cites the re-direct examination of State witness Felix Castro as one example of prosecutorial misconduct. The record reflects that on cross examination, defense counsel's inquiry into Castro's fear of the defendant opened the door for the State's introduction of testimony regarding Castro's uncooperative behavior due to his fear of Colina. The trial court permitted the prosecutor to elicit the testimony because the defense had opened the door. See Thompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1986); Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863, 869 (Fla. 1986).

Colina also argues that the prosecutor referred to him as a "Marielito." The record reflects that Colina testified that he was a marielito in that he came to this country in the 1980 boatlift. The prosecutor's comment was a fair comment on the evidence. See Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1984). Colina also notes that the trial judge used the term marielito in sentencing Colina. However, the sentencing order further states that the defendant testified that he was not a prisoner or a habitual criminal in the Cuban prison system and the State did not produce any record or copy of judgments from Cuba and therefore the Court "cannot, and will not, consider any Cuban

criminal activity, beyond that to which the defendant admits himself". (R 2218). The trial court's sentencing order specifically states that Colina's Cuban prison record was not used against him except to the extent in which he admitted it The State agrees that racial prejudice has no place in a system of justice and is at a loss to understand how racial prejudice played any role in the guilt or sentencing proceedings in this case. Especially, in light of the fact that the allegedly improper comments were not objected to at the trial by Given the fact that the victims were both trial counsel. Hispanic and the State's main witness was Hispanic and Colina himself is Hispanic, it is hardly unlikely that racial prejudice of the sort condemned in Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1988) and Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 1 (1986), was involved here. The improper appeal to racial prejudice involves the situation where the victim of the offense is the same race as the jurors. The prosecutor's use of the racial difference between the defendant and the victim could rise to fundamental error demonstrated by the record. However, it was Colina who conceived and carried out this double murder of Mr. and Mrs. Diaz. is no question that Manuel Colina was properly singled out by the State as one who deserved the death penalty. See **Enmund** v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982); Woods v. State, 490 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1986).

II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN
ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO PRESENT
EVIDENCE OF COLLATERAL OFFENSES
AND ON CHARGE CONDUCT

Colina admits that the State properly admitted collateral prime evidence in the guilt phase of the trial either because it was proper or there was no objection. Colina renews his challenge to the re-direct examination of Felix Castro regarding Castro's knowledge of Colina's alleged prior criminal history. This evidentiary ruling was the subject of Claim I of this appeal and the court did not err in holding that defense counsel had opened the door on cross examination. (R 1316).

Colina next complains that the court also allowed an inmate from county jail to testify that Colina claimed to have had a kilo of cocaine while he was in Houston. (R 1886, 1892). This witness, Russell McClintock, was a trustee in the Putnam County Jail at the same time that Manuel Colina was stationed there prior to trial. Specifically, in March of 1987, McClintock testified that he was called to the cell of Manuel Colina because the commode was running over. Colina was upset and cussing and stated that he had "done killed two mother-fucker's and one more won't matter". (R 1710). Manuel Colina testified for the defense that McClintock was lying about making the above statement. (R 1803-1804). Colina also denied using cocaine. 1764). On cross examination, the prosecutor attempted to elicit an answer from Colina as to whether he had told somebody down at

the jail that he had a kilo of cocaine in Houston. The defense counsel objected on grounds that the answer would be totally irrelevant. (R 807). The trial court overruled the objection and the prosecutor asked, "do you deny that you told somebody in jail that you had a kilo of cocaine in Houston, Texas?" Colina answered, "it's not true". (R 1811). On rebuttal, the prosecutor asked Russell McClintock, "do you recall ever having a conversation with Manuel Colina where he spoke of cocaine and money in Houston, Texas?" McClintock answered, "he said the motel he was staying in, he had \$700.00 underneath the mattress and a kilo of cocaine in an air-conditioner vent." (R 1886). The information was elicited to contradict and rebut Colina's testimony that he only had \$180.00 when he arrived in Houston and that he did not use cocaine. Colina and Castro's credibility were directly an issue as each named the other as the perpetrator and more violent of the two individuals. This cross examination and rebuttal was designed to impeach Colina's credibility. trial court should be allowed wide latitude in rulings on the admissibility of testimony. Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1987).

Colina complains about testimony of Detective Chris Hord and the cross examination of Colina by the prosecutor. This Court has already held that both the State and the defendant can present evidence during the penalty phase of a capital case that might have been barred at trial because a "narrow interpretation of the rules of evidence is not to be enforced". **State** v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1973). The only limitation on admissibility

is relevancy. Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d at 315. The evidence is within the admission of trial court's wide King v. State, 514 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1987). discretion. The evidence Colina complains about all indicates he has a character and compensity to commit crimes which is unacceptable in the guilt phase under Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959), if offered to convict a defendant. However, the penalty proceeding is a more wide open procedure designed to ventilate the defendant's character and to allow the jury to have all the facts necessary for a rational evaluation of the defendant's character and the circumstances of the crime in order to come to a just conclusion regarding sentencing. There was no harm in informing the jury that Colina had a criminal history in Cuba as he did so on direct examination. In Keen v. State, 504 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1987), the prosecutor elicited evidence of a collateral crime after having been informed per a court ruling that the evidence would be inadmissible.

III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING FROM EVIDENCE ALL STATEMENTS OF FELIX CASTRO OFFERED BY THE DEFENSE

The State agrees that a major aspect of the trial was a swearing contest between Colina and Felix Castro. Colina complains that Felix Castro quoted him extensively during his testimony but the trial court prohibited Colina from telling the jury what Castro said to him. Colina agrees that his admissions against interest were admissible and the trial court did not err in allowing Castro to testify. Colina argues that the precluded hearsay was not offered to prove anything truthful concerning the Diazes but rather to demonstrate that Castro knew who they were. In other words, the statements were offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted i.e., Castro knew the Diazes. There is a distinction between admissions against interest of a party i.e., Colina's statements to Castro and Castro's alleged statements to Colina which are irrelevant if not true. Colina could have asked these questions on cross examination of Castro but did not.

IA

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

The State agrees that the t-shirt worn by Colina on the date he was arrested was irrelevant and inadmissible in the pena ty phase of this trial. The State offered the t-shirt in conjunction with testimony by an investigator that Colina lacked remorse for the killings. This Court's rulings in Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983), leave no doubt that the time of this trial in July of 1987, proof of a lack of remorse was inadmissible to establish heinous, atrocious or cruel as an aggravating factor. The State will argue that the admission of the t-shirt and the investigator's testimony were harmless error and attributable, in part, to defense counsel's failure to make a specific objection as required by law. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

The trial court heard argument of counsel and admitted the t-shirt and testimony based on his reading of 921.141, Florida Statutes. The trial court was without the guiding hand of defense counsel's specific objection that this Court does not permit the admission or proof of evidence establishing lack of remorse. Pope v. State, supra. However, regardless of how and why this evidence came before the jury, it is harmless given its questionable relevance which is discernible by any layperson of normal intelligence and experience. There may be some scenario

where the clothes worn by a criminal defendant twenty-six days after a crime could be indicative of his state of mind on the night that the crime was committed but not this case.

In light of the overwhelming weight of aggravation and lack of mitigation presented and the trial court's non-consideration of this evidence as evidenced by the sentencing order, any error in the admission of this evidence is harmless under the test set forth in Pope, supra. The trial court found four aggravating circumstances and no mitigation proved to any sufficient degree mitigating circumstances. 389-401). outweigh the (R Therefore, there was no rational basis upon which a jury could recommend life and if they had, the trial court would have been proper in overriding their recommendation. Moreover, there was evidence of heinous, atrocious or cruel established in the facts of the murder in the testimony of Felix Castro and the medical examiners. This evidence cumulative, was irrelevant, inadmissible, but of such dubious weight to have had little effect upon a jury and no effect on the trial court.

V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE MURDERS WERE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL

C lina argues that the victims died or lost consciousness quickly and there is no evidence of the torture or contemplation of death as required by this Court's construction of Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes (1979), i.e., the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor. The State agrees that binding the arms and legs of an already dead victim and eventual mutilation by animals is insufficient to prove this aggravating factor. Furthermore, the excellent character and community respect of the victims is legally insufficient basis for a finding of heinous, atrocious or cruel.

However, there is evidence that the victims consciously suffered to the extent necessary to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the standard set forth in **State** v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), was satisfied. Felix Castro, an eyewitness to the murders, testified that after he hit Mr. Diaz, "the old man started getting up again, he hit him again". (R 1238). Castro testified that Colina hit the old man with the tire iron before they dragged him back to the woods. (R 1239). After Colina ordered Castro to go in the house to get a knife to cut some clothesline rope in order to tie up the victims, Castro said he heard Colina hit them again. Colina told Castro, "I had to knock them out again". (R 1244). Castro said that when he came back with the rope, the old lady started waking up. Mrs. Diaz was

making noise like moaning sounds. (R 1245). Colina then hit her again with the tire iron in the back of the head. Colina then said, I should have killed this bitch, you know, while he was in the kitchen because the old lady gave him a hard time. (R 1246). Castro's testimony was sufficient to establish Colina's admission that Mrs. Diaz was aware the crime was occurring. State, 435 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983), this Court affirmed a finding of heinous, atrocious and cruel where the victim was stabbed in her own bed and lingered from one to ten minutes before choking to death on her own blood. Mason, at 379. The record evidence here demonstrates that both victims did not die from the first blow and regained consciousness prior to their death. resembles Chandler v. State, 13 F.L.W. 713 (Fla. December 8, 1988), where the defendant beat an elderly couple to death with a baseball bat. There may not be any evidence that each spouse was aware of what happened to the other prior to death but there can be no doubt that each spouse was aware of their own fate prior to death The evidence of heinous, atrocious and cruel espec ally strong as to Mrs. Diaz. She was disrobed and regained consciousness before Colina beat her and bound and tied her up.

Moreover, the trial court's findings regarding the character of the victims in how this rendered the crime heinous, atrocious and cruel, may not be relevant to this aggravating factor but is important in the finding of two other factors i.e., cold, calculated and premeditated and witness elimination. The trial court found that the defendant gained knowledge of the victims home and resources because their good character and

generosity led them to befriending Manuel Colina. The unsuspecting nature allowed Colina to deceive them with a ruse in order to commit these brutal murders. Colina's apparent delight in the activity and his reference to Mrs. Diaz as a bitch, are evidence of his state of mind which is a factor in determining cold, calculated and premeditated.

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